Dissertationes Forestales 311

Dynamics of biodiversity-rich deciduous trees and microhabitats in boreal forests

Alwin A. Hardenbol

School of Forest Sciences Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry of the University of Eastern Finland, for public criticism online and in the auditorium M100 of the University of Eastern Finland, Yliopistokatu 7, Joensuu, on the 16th of December 2020, at 12 noon.

Title of dissertation: Dynamics of biodiversity-rich deciduous trees and microhabitats in boreal forests

Author: Alwin A. Hardenbol

Dissertationes Forestales 311

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.311 Use licence <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisors: Professor Jari Kouki School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

Pre-examiners: Associate Professor Adam Felton Southern Swedish Forest Research Centre, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Alnarp, Sweden

Professor Thibault Lachat School of Agricultural, Forest and Food Sciences HAFL, Bern University of Applied Sciences BFH, Bern, Switzerland

Opponent: Docent Atte Komonen, Dr. Department of Biological and Environmental Science, University of Jyväskylä, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-712-7 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-713-4 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Hardenbol**, **A.A.** (2020). Dynamics of biodiversity-rich deciduous trees and microhabitats in boreal forests. Dissertationes Forestales 311. 35 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.311

ABSTRACT

Establishing protected areas and maintaining biodiversity in managed forests are the main methods to conserve forest habitats and their biodiversity. The habitat characteristics that affect forest biodiversity in both protected and managed forests occur on different spatial scales, with the smallest scale consisting of structures at the level of single trees and smaller. Under the influence of dynamic processes (ecological succession, natural and anthropogenic disturbances) small-scale structures may be strongly affected, altering their contribution to local biodiversity.

In this thesis, I studied two small-scale structures in northern boreal forests: deciduous trees (mainly European aspen (*Populus tremula*)) in conifer-dominated forests and woodpecker-made breeding cavities. These structures provide resources for multiple species. However, their abundance could be affected by dynamic processes, also in protected areas. I examined the temporal dynamics of these structures through long-term (16–30 years) monitoring. Specifically, I studied the recruitment of deciduous trees in managed forests, aspen demography in old-growth forests, the effect of tree- and stand-level factors on cavity persistence, and the potential to detect aspen for conservation purposes via remote sensing.

My main findings were:

- 1) Recruitment of deciduous trees is enhanced by prescribed burning. Mammalian herbivory impacts recruitment significantly, although its effect depends on forest age.
- Living aspens declined by 37% in protected old-growth forests over an 18-year period and recruitment rate was low despite an abundance of saplings. Recruitment primarily occurred on forest edges.
- 3) Tree species, size, and condition affect the persistence of woodpecker-made cavities, with cavities lasting longer in coniferous, healthy, and larger trees. For aspen, cavities in small trees also persisted a long time.
- 4) Multispectral drone images can be used to detect scattered mature aspen trees in oldgrowth forests, most ideally in late spring.

My results emphasize that dynamic processes in forests can alter forest characteristics that are important for biodiversity quickly. Small-scale structures, that are essential to maintain local biodiversity, underwent strong changes in just a few decades. My thesis highlights the importance of continuous monitoring of biodiversity-rich habitat structures to uncover major changes in the ability of protected areas to sustain biodiversity. Remote sensing is potentially a valuable monitoring tool, also for tree-level small-scale forest structures.

Keywords: aspen, forest conservation, herbivory, old-growth forest, tree recruitment, woodpecker cavity

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am thankful for the support of many people throughout my PhD. First and foremost, however, I am enormously thankful for the support, patience, and near fatherly attitude that my supervisor, Prof. Jari Kouki (School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland), showed me throughout this journey. There were obstacles and hurdles along the road, and Jari's supervision was essential in overcoming them. Furthermore, I look up to him for his knowledge in ecology and I learned so very much from him. I have often said I could not have asked for a better supervisor considering how he always made time for me and always carefully read every version of a manuscript or conference abstract and would listen to draft versions of presentations. I would also like to thank Kaisa Junninen and Karoliina Hämäläinen, who both supported me enormously during this journey and, together with Jari, created a very pleasant work atmosphere.

With every manuscript that I worked on I had people that acted like secondary supervisors and their role in getting the manuscripts finalized was essential. I deeply thank Timo Pakkala, Lauri Korhonen, and Michael den Herder for sharing with me their expertise, knowledge, and support. I would also like to thank my other co-authors; Timo Kumpula, Matti Maltamo, Anton Kuzmin, and Pasi Korpelainen.

Furthermore, I would like to express my thanks towards my other colleagues and Jari's former PhD students, who made lunch, coffee breaks, and conferences more fun; Philippe Fayt, Matti Koivula, Harri Lappalainen, Olli-Pekka Tikkanen, Hannes Pasanen, Mai Suominen, Osmo Heikkala, Panu Kunttu, and Aino Hämäläinen.

Outside of my work environment, I immensely thank my parents, Irene Hardenbol and $\Delta\eta\mu\eta\tau\rho\eta\varsigma$ Kouvtouvi $\delta\tau\eta\varsigma$ and my partner, Katariina Ohenoja for their invaluable support over these years. They would always, no matter the day or time, provide a listening ear and be supportive during difficult times and would cheer louder than I when I got the news that an article was accepted for publication. I would also like to thank my aunts, Sonja Smokers and Aleide Hardenbol, and my uncle Richard Smokers, who have always been so supportive throughout my studies before and during my PhD. I would also like to thank my best friends in Joensuu and elsewhere; Tom Versluijs, Jonas Brüggeshemke, Kseniia Plevak, Eero Rauhala, Alejandro Barrios Becerra, Ilja Moshnikov, Julia Kalinkina, Lennart van Wezep, Wim Jager, Sanna Lindeman, Iordan Hristov, Tero Pelkonen, and Mia Surakka.

Finally, I thank nature for being so astonishingly beautiful that it inspired me to pursue ecology as my field of study. Honorable mention to all the birds!

Joensuu, October 2020

Alwinte

Alwin Hardenbol

"Earth provides enough to satisfy every man's needs, but not every man's greed."

— Mahatma Gandhi

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This thesis is a summary of the following articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. Studies **II** and **III** are reprints of previously published articles reprinted with the permission of the publisher. Study **I** is a reprint of an article in press reprinted with the permission of the publisher. Study **IV** is a submitted manuscript.

- I Hardenbol A.A., den Herder M., Kouki J. (in press). Long-term effects of prescribed burning, tree retention, and browsing on deciduous tree recruitment in European boreal forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2020-0231
- II Hardenbol A.A., Junninen K., Kouki J. (2020). A key tree species for forest biodiversity, European aspen (*Populus tremula*), is rapidly declining in boreal oldgrowth forest reserves. Forest Ecology and Management 462: 118009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118009
- III Hardenbol A.A., Pakkala T., Kouki J. (2019). Persistence of a keystone microhabitat in boreal forests: Cavities of Eurasian Three-toed Woodpeckers (*Picoides tridactylus*). Forest Ecology and Management 450: 117530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117530
- IV Hardenbol A.A., Kuzmin A., Korhonen L., Korpelainen P., Kumpula T., Maltamo M., Kouki J. (2020). Detection of aspen in conifer-dominated boreal forests with seasonal multispectral drone image point clouds. Manuscript.

The contribution of Alwin A. Hardenbol to the studies included in this thesis was as follows:

Study I: Performed the field sampling, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript together with co-authors.

Study **II**: Performed the field sampling, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript together with co-authors.

Study III: Analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript together with co-authors.

Study **IV**: Contributed to the conceptualization of the study. Participated in the field sampling and the data analysis. Wrote the manuscript together with co-authors and assisted in managing the study and its progress.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES		
TABLE OF CONTENTS		
1.	INTF	RODUCTION7
	1.1	Background7
	1.2	Ecological succession and small-scale dynamics
	1.3	Natural and anthropogenic disturbances
	1.4	Biodiversity conservation and dynamic processes in European boreal forests 10
	1.5	Deciduous trees
	1.6	Tree-related microhabitats
	1.7	Aims of the thesis
2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS14	
	2.1	Study sites
	2.2	Deciduous tree inventory (I, II, and IV)
	2.3	Cavity inventory (III)
	2.4	Data analyses
3.	MAI	N RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
	3.1 term (I on fore	Recruitment of deciduous trees is promoted by prescribed burning over the long). Browsing strongly impacts deciduous tree recruitment but its impact depends st age (I and II)
	3.2 recruite	Overall number of aspens has strongly declined in old-growth forests and newly ed cohorts have failed to emerge (II)
	3.3 high te	Cavities persist longer in trees with certain characteristics and in forests with rritory occupancy (III)
	3.4 spring	Remote sensing for aspen detection shows promising results, especially in late when birches have leaves and aspens do not (IV)
4.	CON	CLUDING REMARKS
REFERENCES		

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Globally, 80% of the known terrestrial biodiversity is reliant on forests (Aerts and Honnay 2011). However, multiple forest-dwelling species are threatened with extinction and forest biodiversity is rapidly declining (Pimm et al. 1995; Pimm and Raven 2000; Seibold et al. 2019).

To conserve forest biodiversity, two main conservation actions are traditionally used: preserving valuable habitats in protected areas (Branquart et al. 2008) and the application of biodiversity-oriented forest management (Bhagwat et al. 2008; Puettmann et al. 2015). Forests that are protected are often old-growth or intact forests (Morales-Hidalgo et al. 2015; Sabatini et al. 2018). Despite the importance of forest protection (Betts et al. 2017; Watson et al. 2018), terrestrial protected areas cover only a small fraction of the global land area and are, at present, not considered sufficient to prevent ongoing biodiversity loss (Watson et al. 2014). Biodiversity-oriented forest management has developed to reduce the negative environmental impacts of deforestation and intensive wood production. To counter deforestation, the concept of agroforestry has developed (Bhagwat et al. 2008), and alternative silvicultural regimes (e.g. selective cutting and mixed forests) have been used to counter intensive wood production (Côté et al. 2010; Puettmann et al. 2015). While agroforestry and alternative silvicultural regimes show benefits for nature, their adoption is limited by the absence of economic incentives.

The two conservation actions outlined above fit within the framework of *land sparing* and *land sharing*, which is an important debate on how to best conserve biodiversity (Green et al. 2005; Phalan et al. 2011; Kremen and Merenlender 2018). Under land sparing, conservation relies entirely on protected areas set aside from managed areas. With land sharing, management and biodiversity conservation are aimed at, simultaneously, in managed lands. In recent years, land sparing has gained more support for biodiversity conservation (e.g. Phalan et al. 2011; Balmford et al. 2019). Empirical research has shown that land sparing results in improved maintenance of typical species (Phalan et al. 2011; Kamp et al. 2015; Dotta et al. 2016). However, the land sparing approach has also been criticized because the majority of the terrestrial land that would need to be protected has seen some form of historical anthropogenic disturbance (von Wehrden et al. 2014). While restoration of such areas has been suggested (e.g. Green et al. 2005), restoration outcomes are often uncertain, and areas may never resemble the original intact habitat, or harbor the (threatened) species characteristic of that habitat (Chazdon 2008; Kouki et al. 2012). Furthermore, currently existing protected areas in multiple countries are under intense human pressure despite official protection (Jones et al. 2018) and are not insured against policy changes resulting in protected areas regularly undergoing downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement (Mascia and Pailler 2011). This begs the question whether the land sparing approach alone is even realistic. Kremen and Merenlender (2018), as well as Grass et al. (2019), argue that land sharing, at least partly, is important, not only to complement the biodiversity conservation efforts of protected areas, but also to provide ecosystem services for humans. Extensive land use practices can provide for a more hospitable matrix in which species can persist (Mendenhall et al. 2016). Furthermore, extensive land use can improve the effectiveness of protected areas by providing protected area connectivity and buffer zones from external threats (Kennedy et al. 2011; Mendenhall et al. 2014).

The debate over land sparing *versus* land sharing often overlooks ecologically important factors that may be equally important or even more crucial. For example, which specific ecologically important features are more crucial in these two conservation types? Is it more important to conserve large landscape-scale (e.g. old-growth forest networks), stand-scale (e.g. old-growth forest stands), or small-scale structural elements (e.g. deadwood) that are considered valuable for biodiversity? In general, a multi-scale conservation approach is deemed appropriate (Lindenmayer et al. 2006; Felton et al. 2020), largely because different species have different requirements from their environment (Lindenmayer and Franklin 2002). Small-scale structural elements have garnered increasing importance for nature conservation in recent years (Winter and Möller 2008; Michel and Winter 2009; Larrieu et al. 2018) and have even been shown to be more important than larger scale elements in some cases (e.g. Regnery et al. 2013). The conservation of ecologically valuable small-scale structures can be achieved under both the land sparing and land sharing conservation approaches.

Hierarchically occurring structures in both protected areas and biodiversity-oriented silviculture are under the constant influence of dynamic processes (outlined in sections 1.2 and 1.3). These dynamic processes affect the abundance and functioning of structural elements for biodiversity. Biodiversity conservation heavily relies on maintaining specific structures, and thus the dynamic nature of structures can profoundly affect our ability to maintain biodiversity. For many structures, it has remained unclear how they are temporally and spatially affected by dynamic processes. In my thesis, I address the temporal dynamics of two biodiversity-rich small-scale structures in biodiversity-oriented silviculture and protected areas.

1.2 Ecological succession and small-scale dynamics

The structure of forests is continuously shaped by repeated disturbances and succession. These disturbance-succession dynamics occur at different spatiotemporal scales and, thus, affect the availability of structures within an area both in time and space. Structural composition and heterogeneity in turn exert a major influence on species richness and biodiversity within an area (Franklin et al. 2002; Lindenmayer et al. 2006; Gauthier et al. 2015).

The process of ecological succession is the sequential alteration of an ecological community in the same space over time following a disturbance (Clements 1916). Ecological succession based on Clements' work has traditionally been assumed to lead a community to a theoretical climax state through deterministic sequences of successional stages (Horn 1974; Connell and Slatyer 1977). However, this theory ignores the importance of stochastic processes, such as subsequent disturbances, which result in constantly changing ecosystems whereby the exact theoretical trajectory and climax state are rarely attainable or maintainable (Bormann and Likens 1979; Filotas et al. 2014). Nevertheless, certain successional patterns emerge when major subsequent disturbances are absent (Oliver 1980; Capers et al. 2005; Donato et al. 2012; Rohner et al. 2012), which can make succession predictable at the level of functional groups of species (cf. Norden et al. 2015). Successional pathways depend on several factors, defined as drivers of succession (see Meiners et al. 2015), which are grouped into three classes: (1) site conditions and history, which include soil properties, local climate, and topography (Fridley and Wright 2012; Martin et al. 2020), (2) species availability, which includes connectivity and dispersal (e.g. Noble and Slatyer 1980), and (3) species

performance, which in turn affects species interactions (see Connell and Slatyer 1977). Ecological succession is a process that occurs on a rather large spatial scale (community level) as opposed to small-scale dynamics. On a temporal scale, successional shifts based on traditional habitat classification, usually take decades to centuries to become apparent, but ecological succession is nevertheless a continuously occurring but slow process similar to small-scale dynamics, such as the growth and ageing of trees.

It is often unclear how successional progression proceeds in the various types of forest habitats and how it affects the availability of specific structures in the absence of (large) disturbances, which complicates conservation efforts. This is largely a result of the stochastic processes involved in successional progression (Filotas et al. 2014). Similarly, on a smaller scale, it remains unclear as to how dynamic processes, which do not necessarily involve considerable community-level changes, affect the availability of structures (Kõrkjas et al. 2020).

1.3 Natural and anthropogenic disturbances

"A disturbance is any relatively discrete event in time that disrupts ecosystem, community, or population structure and changes resources, substrate availability, or the physical environment" (White and Pickett 1985; White and Jentsch 2001). Disturbances operate on a wide spectrum of spatiotemporal scales (see Kuuluvainen 2002) but as defined by White and Pickett (1985) exclude continuous processes. For example, fires can be of different sizes and thereby affect small to large areas, and the interval between fire events may differ between locations. Disturbances can alter successional progression or can cause it to reset, although this depends on the size and severity of the disturbance (Perera et al. 2004), and disturbances can be either natural or anthropogenic in origin.

Natural disturbances include fires, floods, insect outbreaks, and windstorms (White and Pickett 1985). As humans are increasingly dominating Earth's ecosystems, anthropogenic disturbances are increasingly prevalent (Vitousek et al. 1997; Kareiva et al. 2007), while anthropogenic disturbances are also exacerbating natural disturbances (e.g. Seidl et al. 2017). The main anthropogenic disturbances include the logging of forests and various practices in agriculture, such as tillage and pesticide use (McLaughlin and Mineau 1995; Lambin and Meyfroidt 2011; Hansen et al. 2013; IPBES 2019). Other anthropogenic disturbances include the introduction of non-native and invasive species (Ehrenfeld 2010) and human-induced climate change (Dale et al. 2001).

Natural disturbances play an integral role in maintaining ecosystem variability on a large scale (Attiwill 1994; White and Walker 1997). At intermediate levels of regularity, disturbances also result in high species diversity, according to the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (Connell 1978). Additionally, natural disturbances create unique habitats, such as early successional forests with large amounts of deadwood (Kouki et al. 2001; Franklin et al. 2002; Swanson et al. 2011) and unique structures (e.g. Suominen et al. 2018). Conversely, anthropogenic disturbances often differ from natural disturbances in multiple aspects, resulting in a lack of unique habitats and structures (Franklin et al. 2000; Kouki et al. 2001). Moreover, anthropogenic disturbances often occur in a monotypical fashion over a large area, resulting in low ecosystem variability (e.g. clearcutting). Due to the intensity and extent of anthropogenic disturbance globally, it is considered largely negative for the environment (Rockström et al. 2009; Newbold et al. 2015; Barlow et al. 2016).

1.4 Biodiversity conservation and dynamic processes in European boreal forests

The boreal forest biome is one of the largest terrestrial biomes and represents approximately 30% of the forested area on the planet (Brandt et al. 2013). Boreal forests are not naturally homogenous across the area (Shorohova et al. 2011) but this variation is reduced by similar management practices (Kuuluvainen 2009). Management of the boreal forest is common-place and occurs on approximately 66% of the area it encompasses, primarily for wood production (Gauthier et al. 2015). However, different degrees of management takes place on 90% of the forest area in Fennoscandia, 58% in Russia, and 35–40% in Canada (Gauthier et al. 2015). In addition, variations in land use history and the intensity of management practices are evident from country to country (Mönkkönen and Welsh 1994).

In this thesis, I focus on boreal forests in Europe. Nowadays, forest management in boreal Europe is primarily conducted by growing even-aged coniferous trees in stands that are thinned from below and clearcut during harvesting operations. In Finland, 91% (Vaahtera et al. 2018) and in Sweden, 80% (Swedish Forest Agency 2014) of all forest land is actively managed for wood production, while less than 10% of the forest land is protected in Finland (Vaahtera et al. 2018) and Sweden (Swedish Forest Agency 2014), most of it in the northern parts of these countries. As a result of intensive forestry in European boreal forests, anthropogenic disturbance has led to forests with low structural variability and heterogeneity (Esseen et al. 1997; Siitonen 2001), and has caused the decline in abundance of old-growth forests and early successional stage forests with pre-disturbance elements (Kouki et al. 2001; Gauthier et al. 2015). In turn, this has led to multiple European boreal forest-dwelling species being threatened and/or declining in number (Henriksen and Hilmo 2015; Westling 2015; Hyvärinen et al. 2019).

To conserve forest biodiversity in this region, some valuable forest habitats have been protected (Angelstam et al. 2011) and biodiversity-oriented silviculture is increasingly practiced. The latter includes a range of practices, such as leaving retention trees during final cutting (Gustafsson et al. 2010), uneven-aged management (Peura et al. 2018), and deadwood creation (Pasanen et al. 2019). Biodiversity conservation in practice relies heavily on the preservation of specific habitats, such as old-growth forests and structures (e.g. deadwood) that are considered important for biodiversity (e.g. Atrena et al. 2020).

In relation to land sparing and sharing, it appears appropriate and realistic to mix these two approaches in the context of European boreal forests, albeit that the role of land sharing is emphasized (Felton et al. 2020). Two models that could be considered suitable in European boreal forests are the Canadian TRIAD model (see Côté et al. 2010) and the Scandinavian ASIO-model (see Angelstam 1998). With the TRIAD model, the forest land is divided into three land use zones: (1) protected areas, (2) biodiversity-oriented silviculture, and (3) intensive silviculture. With the ASIO model, a similar division of land use can be established based on the naturally occuring fire frequencies in different forest types. There are various reasons for why such a mixed approach could be advantageous over either land sharing or sparing. In European boreal forests, most of the forest land is managed, and pristine intact forests are rare and scattered. While a large number of species can persist under the land sharing approach, there are several species that are, or are likely to be dependent on, for example, unmanaged old-growth forests (Kouki et al. 2001). Conversely, with the lack of pristine intact forests, a substantial amount of formerly managed land would need to be protected under the land sparing approach. It is unknown whether, even after restoration efforts, those forests could ever again resemble the structural properties (Similä et al. 2012) or species composition (Kouki et al. 2012) of truly intact forests. Herein, it should also be noted that, less than a decade ago, approximately 75% of the forests within protected areas in Finland showed signs of forest management and were in need of restoration efforts, such as increasing deadwood quantities and diversifying tree age distribution (Similä et al. 2012). What complicates both approaches, however, is that forestry has continued to intensify in the region, despite the increasing conservation efforts described above (Felton et al. 2020).

Further complicating nature conservation actions, dynamic processes affect the preservation of valuable habitats and structures in European boreal forests. Dynamic processes in boreal European forests follow certain general patterns. At a large scale, successional processes in European boreal forests are largely assumed to lead towards a climax state in which coniferous trees dominate (Esseen et al. 1997; Linder et al. 1997; Lilja et al. 2006). This assumes that disturbances are largely absent during the early successional stages. Natural disturbances in the boreal zone have historically been highly prevalent, especially fire, resulting in a very variable landscape (Zackrisson 1977). But nowadays, fires have been heavily suppressed in the European boreal zone (Wallenius 2011). Anthropogenic disturbances have almost entirely replaced these natural disturbances with intensively practiced forest management (Kuuluvainen et al. 2012). While clearcutting certainly resets ecological succession, it is clearly dissimilar to fire as it presents a singular intensity, and pre-disturbance forest structures are largely absent after cutting (Franklin et al. 2000; Kouki and Salo 2020). On a smaller scale, dynamic processes affect, for example, tree species composition and the amount of deadwood in protected forests as they may change over time (Lilja et al. 2006), retention trees left on clearcut areas as trees fall (Hämäläinen et al. 2016), and deadwood as it goes through various decay stages until it eventually disintegrates (Siitonen 2001).

Knowledge of these dynamic processes have recently also been applied in nature conservation actions. To better resemble natural disturbances and increase species richness and the number of threatened species in managed forests, suggestions are often made to base forest management on natural ecosystem dynamics (Attiwill 1994; Kuuluvainen 2009). In practice, this is widely applied by leaving retention trees during clearcutting operations (Gustafsson et al. 2010), as well as by carrying out various cutting methods within the managed landscape and the creation of high stumps (Pasanen 2017; Pasanen et al. 2019). Another practice is to apply prescribed burning, which has proven to be highly effective for nature conservation (e.g. Heikkala et al. 2017). To consider ecological succession and the gradual trend towards conifer dominance, management to promote deciduous trees can be applied, such as conifer removal (Hämäläinen et al. 2020) and gap creation (Similä et al. 2012).

1.5 Deciduous trees

Within the conifer-dominated boreal landscape, deciduous trees, while less abundant, host a large percentage of forest biodiversity with many associated and dependent species (e.g. Tikkanen et al. 2006). Among the various deciduous tree species that occur in European boreal forests, European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.; hereafter aspen) is considered particularly valuable for biodiversity, hosting multiple specialist species (Esseen et al. 1997; Kouki et al. 2004; Tikkanen et al. 2006).

As they are shade-intolerant, deciduous trees in boreal Europe are early successional stage species (Esseen et al. 1997) that quickly colonize newly disturbed areas (Linder et al. 1997;

Lankia et al. 2012). The successional progression theory in the European boreal zone, based on work by, for example, Lilja et al. (2006) and Linder et al. (1997) would proceed as follows after a disturbance: deciduous trees colonize the area and grow rapidly, but as succession proceeds, barring new disturbances, coniferous trees also colonize the area and eventually outgrow the deciduous trees. As the forest grows higher, canopy closure increases, and the lower vegetation layers become further shaded. The original cohort of deciduous trees in the area can persist for decades or centuries and may, therefore, also be present in the old-growth forests (e.g. Lankia et al. 2012). However, new cohorts of deciduous trees in the area may fail to become recruited due to interspecific competition and browsing (Kouki et al. 2004; Myking et al. 2011). Nevertheless, old trees eventually perish and fall, and (small-scale) canopy gaps begin to occur in old-growth forests, providing increased solar irradiation at the lower vegetation layers. This can potentially provide recruitment opportunities for trees, including deciduous trees (see Vehmas et al. 2009). Based on this successional development, disturbances are a key determinant of deciduous tree cover but their long-term occurrence in mature forest phases is uncertain (Esseen et al. 1997; Linder et al. 1997; Lankia et al. 2012).

In the absence of natural disturbances, forest management in Fennoscandia can potentially increase the abundance of shade-intolerant deciduous trees because of intense canopy removal facilitating their establishment (Edenius et al. 2011). However, as also noted by Edenius et al. (2011), deciduous trees are largely removed for economic interests. The wood industry prefers coniferous trees for economic reasons and hence, mixed and broadleafdominated forests constitute a minority of all managed forests in Finland (Vaahtera et al. 2018). For aspen specifically, its removal is still common, although certainly less intensive than several decades ago (see Edenius et al. 2011). This is because aspen is the intermediate host of pine-twisting rust (Melampsora pinitorqua Rostr.) (Kurkela 1973; Mattila 2005) and because its presence may attract moose (Alces alces) to browse on economically valuable tree species, such as Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.; hereafter pine) (Jalkanen 2001). Furthermore, human land-use changes have resulted in a larger moose population (see Nevalainen et al. 2016) and moose have a strong browsing preference for certain deciduous tree species, like aspen, rowan (Sorbus aucuparia L.), and willows (Salix spp.) (Månsson et al. 2007). While browsing can also cause direct mortality, it mostly results in a strong recruitment delay (Edenius and Ericsson 2015), which can indirectly lead to mortality. However, the exact effects of browsing also depend on browsing intensity (e.g. Persson et al. 2005). Herein it is important to consider that European boreal forests have large differences in moose densities, with relatively low densities in Finland compared with Sweden (see Angelstam et al. 2017).

Although deciduous trees are at a disadvantage, there has been a marked but still small increase in the overall number of deciduous trees (Vaahtera et al. 2018) and of large deciduous trees in Finnish managed forests (Henttonen et al. 2019), even aspen (Korhonen et al. 2020). However, this does not negate the importance of aspen in old-growth forests as certain species depend on this tree species in old-growth settings (e.g. Martikainen 2001; Oldén et al. 2014).

1.6 Tree-related microhabitats

Tree-related microhabitats (hereafter microhabitats) are important elements of forest structural diversity (Larrieu et al. 2018). Microhabitats consist of a wide variety of structures that include cavities, epiphytic and epixylic structures, tree injury spots, and exposed wood

patches (Winter and Möller 2008; Michel and Winter 2009; Larrieu et al. 2018). Microhabitats can be used to predict the diversity of several groups of birds and bats (Regnery et al. 2013; Paillet et al. 2018). Tree cavities, specifically, are widely used for nesting and roosting purposes (review in Larrieu et al. 2018). In particular, deciduous trees are valuable for microhabitats as they generally harbor many microhabitats (Vuidot et al. 2011), and aspen is considered the most favorable tree species for cavity excavation by woodpeckers (Remm and Lõhmus 2011).

Microhabitat presence, diversity, and abundance all shift over time due to dynamic processes (Kõrkjas et al. 2020). Both natural and anthropogenic disturbances play a large role in these dynamic processes. Microhabitats are especially prone to wind-related losses (Wesołowski and Martin 2018), while relevant anthropogenic disturbances include direct effects, such as cutting (Bütler et al. 2013) and indirect effects, such as fragmentation, resulting in exposure to wind (Jönsson et al. 2007). Accurate knowledge of microhabitat dynamics in relation to both their formation and disappearance is lacking despite such knowledge being important for planning conservation actions (Kõrkjas et al. 2020) with Courbaud et al. (2017) presenting an example of how microhabitat formation probability can be modelled for trees of different species and sizes.

1.7 Aims of the thesis

In my thesis I focused on decadal temporal changes of small-scale structures that are related to the maintenance of forest biodiversity. I approached this subject from three different perspectives: (1) deciduous trees in biodiversity-oriented silviculture in study I, (2) aspen in old-growth forests in study II, and (3) woodpecker-made cavities in study III. In addition, I studied the use of remote sensing for aspen detection in old-growth forests as an improved methodological approach in study IV.

The main questions to be answered in this thesis are:

- 1. What are the effects of (a) biodiversity-oriented silviculture consisting of prescribed burning and retention, and (b) browsing, on deciduous tree recruitment in young forests? (I)
- 2. What are (a) the changes in aspen density, both young and old, over time, and (b) the effects of browsing on aspen recruitment in protected old-growth forests? (II)
- 3. How do tree- and stand-level characteristics affect the dynamics of a key microhabitat: cavities excavated by Three-toed Woodpeckers (*Picoides tridactylus* L.)? (**III**)
- 4. Can remote sensing reliably detect aspen trees in old-growth forests? (IV)

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study sites

This thesis contains four studies for which the data was collected in two distinct parts of Finland (Figure 1). Studies **I**, **II**, and **IV** were performed in North Karelia, eastern Finland (around $63^{\circ} 20'$ N; $30^{\circ} 30'$ E). Study **III** was conducted in the Evo forest area in southern Finland (around $61^{\circ} 15'$ N; $25^{\circ} 03'$ E). The sites in study **I** were covered by 150-year-old forests dominated by pine prior to the experimental treatment. The sites in studies **II** and **IV** are protected areas of conifer-dominated secondary old-growth forest selected for these studies based on their originally high density of aspen. The site in study **III** is dominated by mostly managed, mature coniferous forests with a large population of Three-toed Woodpeckers. For more details, see the relevant studies included in this thesis.



Figure 1. Left: map of Finland showing the two areas where data was collected. Top right: study sites in study I (burned sites: filled-in square, unburned sites: empty square), study II (cross and cross in circle), and study IV (cross in circle). Bottom right: Evo area (study III), showing the location of the study area and all the woodpecker territories included in the study (shown as circles).

2.2 Deciduous tree inventory (I, II, and IV)

For study **I**, I inventoried rowan, aspen, and silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) that were planted on 18 experimental sites. The experiment had a three-factorial design combining timber harvesting with prescribed burning and herbivore access. Of the 18 sites, six were selected to be left uncut, six to be cut with 50 m³/ha retention, and six to be clearcut. Of these six sites per type, three were burned thereby resulting in three replicates per treatment combination. On each site, an herbivore treatment with three compartments was established (unfenced, fenced excluding moose, and fenced excluding moose and hares (*Lepus* spp.); each compartment covered 10 m x 15 m; Figure 2). In these compartments, rowan, aspen, and silver birch were planted in 2002/2003, and I inventoried these trees 17 years after planting. I measured the heights and mortality rates of the planted trees in each compartment on all sites. For more information on the methodology of the study, see study **I** (Fig. 1 specifically for the study design).

For study **II**, all living aspen in the old-growth forest parts of 15 protected areas were inventoried in 1999 and 2017 (Figure 3). In 2017, I collected GPS positions of every aspen with a diameter at breast height (DBH) \geq 5 cm individually, and for aspen with DBH < 5 cm at the center of sapling clusters. Furthermore, I documented signs of browsing on all aspen saplings.

Based on study **II**, a protected area was selected for study **IV** to detect aspen via remote sensing. A drone equipped with a multispectral sensor was flown over the site on five dates, spanning the thermal growing season in 2019. The resulting multispectral images were processed to generate dense photogrammetric point clouds. In addition to field-measured aspen trees, I also collected GPS locations of birches (*Betula* spp.), while Norway spruce (*Picea abies* [L.] Karst.; hereafter spruce) and pine locations were added based on visual interpretation of aerial images.

2.3 Cavity inventory (III)

Between 1987 and 2017, the study area was searched for Three-toed Woodpecker territories every breeding season. Searches for breeding cavities were carried out within these annually mapped territories. In total, 654 cavities were found and used in study **III**. When a new cavity was detected, three stand-level variables (territory occupancy patterns, forest type, and distance to nearest edge) and four tree-level variables (nest tree species, condition [healthy, weakened, and dead], and DBH, and cavity height) were measured. For a detailed account of these variables and their definitions, see study **III**. Furthermore, every previously detected cavity was inspected annually for nesting suitability and the years that a cavity persisted was thus recorded.



Figure 2. Left: Fenced compartments from study **I** with the planted seedlings behind the fence (image taken in 2020 so 18 years after planting). Top right: a heavily browsed aspen seedling from an unfenced compartment in study **I**. Bottom right: a moose (*Alces alces*). Photographs taken by the author.

2.4 Data analyses

In study **I**, a split-plot factorial Analysis of Variance (separately for each tree species) was used to analyze the effect of timber harvesting, prescribed burning, and herbivore treatment on the height and mortality rate of the planted tree species. Timber harvest and prescribed burning were used as between-group factors, herbivore treatment as a within-group factor, and two-way interactions between these factors were included.

In study **II**, the tree dataset was split into three groups for analysis; saplings (DBH < 5 cm), recruited trees ($5 \le \text{DBH} < 15$ cm), and trees with a DBH > 15 cm. The number of recruited trees and trees with a DBH > 15 cm between 1999 and 2017 was compared with paired samples t-tests. With the GPS locations collected in 2017, a Mann-Whitney U test was applied to compare the median distances at which sapling clusters and recruited trees occurred.

For study **III**, the effects of the collected stand- and tree-level variables on the years of cavity persistence were analyzed with Cox proportional hazards models (Cox 1972).

For study **IV**, photogrammetric point clouds were used to create Canopy Height Models and perform Individual Tree Detection (ITD). The individual tree crown boundaries were overlaid with the field-measured trees plus spruces and pines, and for each tree, spectral and height variables were extracted. Subsequently, species classification was performed with a Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA), using only field-measured trees and spruces and pines that were detected in the segments during ITD. LDA was performed for each of the five dates individually and was optimized once for aspen classification and once for overall tree species classification. The results are reported with user's and producer's accuracies. The former is the percentage of trees of a certain tree species that were correctly predicted as that tree species, while the latter is the percentage of correctly classified trees from all trees that were predicted to belong to a certain tree species.

All the statistical analyses were executed in R (R core team 2020) with the help of multiple R packages which have been cited in the individual studies.



Figure 3. Top left and bottom right: An old-growth forest from study **II** photographed in different settings, both showing European aspens (*Populus tremula*), either obvious from their bark structure or their leaves (especially in autumn). Bottom left: An aspen sapling in an old-growth forest from study **II**. Top right: The epiphytic lichen *Lobaria pulmonaria* [L.] Hoffm.; a species that in these parts of Finland is strongly associated with aspen. Photographs taken by the author.

3. MAIN RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Recruitment of deciduous trees is promoted by prescribed burning over the long term (I). Browsing strongly impacts deciduous tree recruitment but its impact depends on forest age (I and II)

The admixture of deciduous trees in managed forests can potentially be improved by practices that better emulate natural disturbances in boreal forests. Such practices include prescribed burning and tree retention (Gustafsson et al. 2010; Halme et al. 2013; Kouki and Salo 2020). However, the results of these practices may also be influenced by mammalian browsing.

I found that prescribed burning significantly lowered the mortality rates of the planted silver birch and rowan seedlings on cut sites (either with or without retention) (I). A likely explanation is that prescribed burning can reduce allelopathic and competitive effects for deciduous trees (Nilsson and Wardle 2005) and provide various beneficial soil properties (Certini 2005). This pattern was also upheld in the unfenced compartments, which indicates that burning also reduced browsing, at least of silver birch and rowan seedlings. Burning has been found to influence the chemical composition of trees which in turn influences their palatability (Wan et al. 2014). In the absence of burning, browsing clearly increased the mortality rates of all three tree species on cut sites, as indicated by fenced versus unfenced compartments.

Tree retention over the long term did not impact the mortality and growth of the planted deciduous trees (I). My results therefore differ from the findings of the short-term study (see den Herder et al. 2009) and validate the importance of long-term studies on tree recruitment (Bernes et al. 2018). In the short term, den Herder et al. (2009) found that both prescribed burning and tree retention promoted deciduous tree recruitment. The legacy effects of fires have been shown to last for decades (Certini 2005) but trees fall and this may explain why retention did not promote recruitment over the long term.

The uncut forest sites (controls) showed a complete lack of deciduous tree recruitment with high, near-total tree mortality (\mathbf{I}). This is a similar result to my findings in study \mathbf{I} where recruitment was almost absent in the forest interior. My findings from study \mathbf{I} also corroborate the conclusion from study \mathbf{I} that browsing is not an important limiting factor in the forest interior, as the fenced compartments did not show different mortality patterns from unfenced compartments on uncut sites. As in study \mathbf{I} , I suggest that a scarcity of resources (nutrients, light, and water) is the main limiting factor on the uncut sites in study \mathbf{I} .

3.2 Overall number of aspens has strongly declined in old-growth forests and newly recruited cohorts have failed to emerge (II)

In the absence of fires, it is suggested that aspen will disappear from the old-growth forest parts of protected areas, as new cohorts are not able to establish and the aspens in the old cohort perish (Esseen et al. 1997; Linder et al. 1997; Kouki et al. 2004; Latva-Karjanmaa et al. 2007).

My findings show that previous suggestions of aspen decline are indeed accurate (II). In addition, I observed the severity of the decline, which amounted to, on average, 37% of the number of living aspen/ha over an 18-year period in the 15 old-growth protected forests. This

decline is strongly synchronous at the landscape level (the old-growth forest network). Furthermore, I found that recruitment of new aspen cohorts is lackluster with only 0.4 recruited aspen/ha, despite a relative abundance of aspen saplings (9 saplings below 1.3 m in height/ha). Possible explanations for this lack of recruitment range from browsing, to an absence of disturbances with an ensuing deficiency of vital resources (nutrients, light, and water) (Kouki et al. 2004; Latva-Karjanmaa et al. 2007).

To uncover the exact reasons for the lack of recruitment, I analyzed the spatial occurrence of recruitment and browsing (II). While saplings appeared to be abundant at various distances from the forest edge, recruitment exclusively occurred at the forest edge (median distance from the edge for saplings was 34.7 m, and 5.5 m for recruited trees). This indicates that limitations for recruitment are stronger in the forest interior. I also found that browsing was greater closer to the forest edge. In the forest interior, it appears that competition for resources is the main limitation (Landhäusser et al. 2019). Nearer the forest edge, browsing is certainly a strong factor. However, resource competition is also likely to be a limiting factor near the forest edge as browsing alone does not appear to be able to explain the lack of recruitment at this distance. Recruitment appears to be possible at the old-growth forest edges despite browsing (see also Härkönen et al. 2008) and could provide a means by which aspen can persist in these forests.

My findings show that not only is the old aspen cohort disappearing, but that new cohorts have failed to emerge, with no indication of recruitment in small-scale canopy gaps. Despite the appearance that old-growth forests are stable environments, my results highlight their ever-changing conditions, which may have major consequences for biodiversity conservation in old-growth forests.

3.3 Cavities persist longer in trees with certain characteristics and in forests with high territory occupancy (III)

Cavities are considered important microhabitats for a range of species in European boreal forests (Wesołowski and Martin 2018). The majority of cavities in this biome are excavated by woodpeckers (Andersson et al. 2018) and later re-used by other species (for Three-toed Woodpecker-made cavities see Pakkala et al. 2018). Temporal patterns in cavity persistence may influence their role in providing nesting and roosting sites for species.

In my thesis, 447 cavities (out of the 654 newly excavated cavities that were found) were lost over the 30-year study period (**III**). Most of the cavities (329) were lost through tree fall or breakage, most probably caused by wind, and some to cavity damage (72) caused by, for example, other woodpeckers. A small number of the cavities (46) was lost to anthropogenic disturbance in the form of logging. The median persistence time of the studied cavities was 10 years.

At the tree-level, I found three factors that affected cavity persistence. First, cavities persisted longer in healthy and weakened trees than in dead trees. This pattern has been observed previously (e.g. Edworthy et al. 2012) and is the result of lost structural integrity in the dead trees. Second, cavities persisted longer in larger diameter trees, although this effect was not as strong in aspen, where cavities also persisted for a long time in small diameter trees. Previous research has found that trees with a large height/diameter-ratio require stronger winds to fall (Peltola 2006); so larger diameter trees can be considered more stable. Third, cavities persisted longest in pine, likely because of its deep rooting system, which gives it considerable resilience to falling (Peltola et al. 2000). At the stand-level, I found that

cavities persisted longer in areas with high territory occupancy rates. The explanation for this finding remained unclear but was potentially related to unmeasured properties such as stand density.

Overall, I found that certain tree-level characteristics can be used to predict the persistence of cavities. Cavities can potentially be used as indicators of biodiversity (Cockle et al. 2010), but since their persistence time can differ, their value as indicators also varies.

3.4 Remote sensing for aspen detection shows promising results, especially in late spring when birches have leaves and aspens do not (IV)

Remote sensing has been shown to have the potential to be used for large-scale and costeffective inventories of important structures for biodiversity (Kerr and Ostrovsky 2003; Nagendra et al. 2013). Although the identification of tree species via remote sensing would be highly relevant for ecological applications (e.g. Fassnacht et al. 2016), this is still a developing field that struggles under an increasing number of species and spectral/structural similarities between species. For aspen specifically, few attempts have been made to distinguish it from other species and when this has been attempted, it has generally led to poor outcomes as a result of spectral and structural similarities with common European boreal tree species (reviewed by Kivinen et al. 2020). In previous studies involving aspen, however, seasonal variation in canopy phenology has been ignored, which could improve classification accuracy.

I discovered that aspen classification can be reliably performed with multispectral data throughout the thermal growing season, although with clear seasonal differences (**IV**). With this data, the optimal time for aspen classification was found to occur at the start of the thermal growing season in late spring (13 May). On this date, aspen had no leaves yet, although birch did. This resulted in a user's accuracy of 91.8% and a producer's accuracy of 89.1%, likely the result of the spectral differences between bark or branches and leaves.

When the analysis was optimized for overall tree species classification, an overall classification accuracy of 87.2% was achieved in late spring (30 May). On this date, aspen was in the late leaf flush stage. The accuracy that was achieved is the highest overall accuracy (when aspen is considered as a separate species) recorded in literature thus far (see Kivinen et al. 2020; Viinikka et al. 2020).

Autumn is often suggested to be the optimal season to classify tree species in general (Hill et al. 2010; Persson et al. 2018). Between birch and aspen, there are clear phenological differences in autumn senescence coloration. Despite these autumnal patterns, the lowest classification accuracy overall, and for aspen in particular, was achieved in autumn. This is likely a result of the intraspecific variation in aspen leaf coloration on a specific date because of differences in the timing of the onset of senescence between trees (Fracheboud et al. 2009).

My findings in study **IV** are especially useful in the context of the decline in aspen that I observed in study **II**. To monitor the aspen population on a large scale, remote sensing appears a highly suitable tool. The detected trees in study **IV**, however, only included trees that had reached the canopy and, thus, further efforts are required to use remote sensing applications for complete demographic inventories.

4. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The conservation of biodiversity in European boreal forests is mainly enacted through a mixed application of land sparing and sharing with the use of both protected areas and biodiversity-oriented silviculture. However, as both protected and managed forests undergo dynamic changes, the potential of different land-use patterns in safeguarding biodiversity can also change. Within protected and managed areas, a range of small-scale structures have been shown to be of critical importance for biodiversity. My studies on the temporal dynamics of such structures show that their abundance and functioning can rapidly alter over time, both in managed and protected forests. This finding indicates that the ability of protected areas and biodiversity-oriented silviculture to conserve biodiversity can be overestimated if it does not consider spatiotemporal dynamics. This can affect the degree to which land sparing and sharing should be implemented or combined for biodiversity conservation in situations where internal dynamics and temporal changes prevail. Especially the effectivity of protected areas must be guaranteed but under current circumstances, their effectiveness appears to be dwindling for the specific structures that I studied. In both protected and managed areas, conservation actions should consider the dynamics that affect the two studied structures (deciduous trees and microhabitats) and other structures not studied here, and in turn the species that depend on them.

Regardless of the type of conservation action, small-scale structures undergo rapid and obvious temporal changes on a scale of just several decades. These rapid temporal fluctuations in small-scale structures would indicate that small-scale structures are more prone to dynamic processes than larger scale structures (e.g. an old-growth forest stand). Since small-scale structures are prone to rapid temporal changes that may also be highly synchronous, addressing the limitations of current conservation actions is an urgent issue, and multi-scale conservation approaches should intensively focus on the maintenance of small-scale structures.

In my thesis, the importance of monitoring biodiversity-rich structures for nature conservation is also highlighted. Such monitoring should be performed on a regular basis at the same locations because small-scale characteristics important to maintain biodiversity may change quickly, and exact patterns of change can only be achieved by undertaking an inventory in the same area repeatedly. As remote sensing technology continues to develop, it presents a potentially cost-effective tool for repeated monitoring at the same locations. Based on my findings, drone-based remote sensing can even be applied for the monitoring of tree-level small-scale structures present in densely forested protected areas with high accuracy.

REFERENCES

Aerts R., Honnay O. (2011). Forest restoration, biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. BMC Ecology 11(1): 29. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1186/1472-6785-11-29</u>

Andersson J., Domingo Gómez E., Michon S., Roberge J.-M. (2018). Tree cavity densities and characteristics in managed and unmanaged Swedish boreal forest. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 33(3): 233-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2017.1360389</u>

Angelstam P.K. (1998). Maintaining and restoring biodiversity in European boreal forests by developing natural disturbance regimes. Journal of Vegetation Science 9: 593-602. https://doi.org/10.2307/3237275

Angelstam P., Andersson K., Axelsson R., Elbakidze M., Jonsson B., Roberge J.-M. (2011). Protecting forest areas for biodiversity in Sweden 1991–2010: the policy implementation process and outcomes on the ground. Silva Fennica 45(5): 90. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.90</u>

Angelstam P., Manton M., Pedersen S., Elbakidze M. (2017). Disrupted trophic interactions affect recruitment of boreal deciduous and coniferous trees in northern Europe. Ecological Applications 27(4): 1108-1123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1506</u>

Atrena A., Banelytė G.G., Læssøe T., Riis-Hansen R., Bruun H.H., Rahbek C., Heilmann-Clausen J. (2020). Quality of substrate and forest structure determine macrofungal richness along a gradient of management intensity in beech forests. Forest Ecology and Management 478: 118512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118512</u>

Attiwill P.M. (1994). The disturbance of forest ecosystems: the ecological basis for conservative management. Forest Ecology and Management 63(2): 247-300. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(94)90114-7

Balmford B., Green R.E., Onial M., Phalan B., Balmford A. (2019). How imperfect can land sparing be before land sharing is more favourable for wild species? Journal of Applied Ecology 56(1): 73-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13282</u>

Barlow J., Lennox G.D., Ferreira J., Berenguer E., Lees A.C., Nally R.M., Thomson J.R., de Barros Ferraz S.F., Louzada J., Fonseca Oliveira V.H., Parry L., de Castro Solar R.R., Vieira I.C.G., Aragão L.E.O.C., Begotti R.A., Braga R.F., Cardoso T.M., de Oliveira R.C.Jr., Souza C.M.Jr., Moura N.G., Nunes S.S., Siqueira J.V., Pardini R., Silveira J.M., Vaz-de-Mello F.Z., Veiga R.C.S., Venturieri A., Gardner T.A. (2016). Anthropogenic disturbance in tropical forests can double biodiversity loss from deforestation. Nature 535: 144-147. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature18326

Bernes C., Macura B., Jonsson B.G., Junninen K., Müller J., Sandström J., Lõhmus A., Macdonald E. (2018). Manipulating ungulate herbivory in temperate and boreal forests: effects on vegetation and invertebrates. A systematic review. Environmental Evidence 7(1): 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13750-018-0125-3</u>

Betts M.G., Wolf C., Ripple W.J., Phalan B., Millers K.A., Duarte A., Butchart S.H.M., Levi T. (2017). Global forest loss disproportionately erodes biodiversity in intact landscapes. Nature 547: 441-444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23285</u>

Bhagwat S.A., Willis K.J., Birks H.J.B., Whittaker R.J. (2008). Agroforestry: a refuge for tropical biodiversity? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 23(5): 261-267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.01.005

Bormann F.H., Likens G.E. (1979). Catastrophic disturbance and the steady state in northern hardwood forests: a new look at the role of disturbance in the development of forest

ecosystems suggests important implications for land-use policies. American Scientist 67(6): 660-669.

Brandt J.P., Flannigan M.D., Maynard D.G., Thompson I.D., Volney W.J.A. (2013). An introduction to Canada's boreal zone: ecosystem processes, health, sustainability, and environmental issues. Environmental Reviews 21(4): 207-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0040</u>

Branquart E., Verheyen K., Latham J. (2008). Selection criteria of protected forest areas in Europe: the theory and the real world. Biological Conservation 141(11): 2795-2806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.08.015

Bütler R., Lachat T., Larrieu L., Paillet Y. (2013). Habitat trees: key elements for forest biodiversity. In: Kraus D., Krumm F. (eds.) Integrative approaches as an opportunity for the conservation of forest biodiversity. European Forest Institute, Freiburg, Germany. p. 84-91.

Capers R.S., Chazdon R.L., Brenes A.R., Alvarado B.V. (2005). Successional dynamics of woody seedling communities in wet tropical secondary forests. Journal of Ecology 93(6): 1071-1084. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2005.01050.x</u>

Certini G. (2005). Effects of fire on properties of forest soils: a review. Oecologia 143(1): 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1788-8</u>

Chazdon R.L. (2008). Beyond deforestation: restoring forests and ecosystem services on degraded lands. Science 320(5882): 1458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1155365</u>

Clements F.E. (1916). Plant succession: an analysis of the development of vegetation. Carnegie Institution of Washington, Washington D.C., US. 512 p.

Cockle K.L., Martin K., Drever M.C. (2010). Supply of tree-holes limits nest density of cavity-nesting birds in primary and logged subtropical Atlantic forest. Biological Conservation 143(11): 2851-2857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.08.002</u>

Connell J.H. (1978). Diversity in tropical rain forests and coral reefs. Science 199(4335): 1302-1310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.199.4335.1302</u>

Connell J.H., Slatyer R.O. (1977). Mechanisms of succession in natural communities and their role in community stability and organization. The American Naturalist 111(982): 1119-1144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/283241</u>

Côté P., Tittler R., Messier C., Kneeshaw D.D., Fall A., Fortin M.-J. (2010). Comparing different forest zoning options for landscape-scale management of the boreal forest: possible benefits of the TRIAD. Forest Ecology and Management 259(3): 418-427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.10.038

Courbaud B., Pupin C., Letort A., Cabanettes A., Larrieu L. (2017). Modelling the probability of microhabitat formation on trees using cross-sectional data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 8: 1347-1359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12773</u>

Cox D.R. (1972). Regression models and life-tables. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological) 34(2): 187-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1972.tb00899.x</u>

Dale V.H., Joyce L.A., McNulty S., Neilson R.P., Ayres M.P., Flannigan M.D., Hanson P.J., Irland L.C., Lugo A.E., Peterson C.J., Simberloff D., Swanson F.J., Stocks B.J., Wotton B.M. (2001). Climate change and forest disturbances: climate change can affect forests by altering the frequency, intensity, duration, and timing of fire, drought, introduced species, insect and pathogen outbreaks, hurricanes, windstorms, ice storms, or landslides. Bioscience 51(9): 723-734. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0723:ccafd]2.0.co;2

den Herder M., Kouki J., Ruusila V. (2009). The effects of timber harvest, forest fire, and herbivores on regeneration of deciduous trees in boreal pine-dominated forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 39(4): 712-722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/X08-208</u>

Donato D.C., Campbell J.L., Franklin J.F. (2012). Multiple successional pathways and precocity in forest development: can some forests be born complex? Journal of Vegetation Science 23(3): 576-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01362.x</u>

Dotta G., Phalan B., Silva T.W., Green R., Balmford A. (2016). Assessing strategies to reconcile agriculture and bird conservation in the temperate grasslands of South America. Conservation Biology 30(3): 618-627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12635</u>

Edenius L., Ericsson G. (2015). Effects of ungulate browsing on recruitment of aspen and rowan: a demographic approach. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 30(4): 283-288. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2014.999823

Edenius L., Ericsson G., Kempe G., Bergström R., Danell K. (2011). The effects of changing land use and browsing on aspen abundance and regeneration: a 50-year perspective from Sweden. Journal of Applied Ecology 48(2): 301-309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01923.x</u>

Edworthy A.B., Wiebe K.L., Martin K. (2012). Survival analysis of a critical resource for cavity-nesting communities: patterns of tree cavity longevity. Ecological Applications 22(6): 1733-1742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1594.1</u>

Ehrenfeld J.G. (2010). Ecosystem consequences of biological invasions. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 41(1): 59-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102209-144650</u>

Esseen P.-A., Ehnström B., Ericson L., Sjöberg K. (1997). Boreal forests. Ecological Bulletins 46: 16-47.

Fassnacht F.E., Latifi H., Stereńczak K., Modzelewska A., Lefsky M., Waser L.T., Straub C., Ghosh A. (2016). Review of studies on tree species classification from remotely sensed data. Remote Sensing of Environment 186: 64-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.08.013</u>

Felton A., Löfroth T., Angelstam P., Gustafsson L., Hjältén J., Felton A., Simonsson P., Dahlberg A., Lindbladh M., Svensson J., Nilsson U., Lodin I., Hedwall P.-O., Sténs A., Lämås T., Brunet J., Kalén C., Kriström B., Gemmel P., Ranius T. (2020). Keeping pace with forestry: multi-scale conservation in a changing production forest matrix. Ambio 49: 1050–1064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01248-0</u>

Filotas E., Parrott L., Burton P.J., Chazdon R.L., Coates K.D., Coll L., Haeussler S., Martin K., Nocentini S., Puettmann K.J., Putz F.E., Simard S.W., Messier C. (2014). Viewing forests through the lens of complex systems science. Ecosphere 5(1): 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1890/es13-00182.1

Fracheboud Y., Luquez V., Björkén L., Sjödin A., Tuominen H., Jansson S. (2009). The control of autumn senescence in European aspen. Plant Physiology 149(4): 1982-1991. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.133249

Franklin J.F., Lindenmayer D., MacMahon J.A., McKee A., Magnuson J., Perry D.A., Waide R., Foster D. (2000). Threads of continuity. Conservation in Practice 1(1): 8-17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4629.2000.tb00155.x

Franklin J.F., Spies T.A., Van Pelt R., Carey A.B., Thornburgh D.A., Berg D.R., Lindenmayer D.B., Harmon M.E., Keeton W.S., Shaw D.C., Bible K., Chen J.Q. (2002). Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. Forest Ecology and Management 155(1-3): 399-423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00575-8</u>

Gauthier S., Bernier P., Kuuluvainen T., Shvidenko A.Z., Schepaschenko D.G. (2015). Boreal forest health and global change. Science 349(6250): 819-822. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa9092

Grass I., Loos J., Baensch S., Batáry P., Librán-Embid F., Ficiciyan A., Klaus F., Riechers M., Rosa J., Tiede J., Udy K., Westphal C., Wurz A., Tscharntke T. (2019). Land-sharing/sparing connectivity landscapes for ecosystem services and biodiversity conservation. People and Nature 1(2): 262-272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.21</u>

Green R.E., Cornell S.J., Scharlemann J.P.W., Balmford A. (2005). Farming and the fate of wild nature. Science 307(5709): 550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1106049</u>

Gustafsson L., Kouki J., Sverdrup-Thygeson A. (2010). Tree retention as a conservation measure in clear-cut forests of northern Europe: a review of ecological consequences. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 25(4): 295-308. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2010.497495

Halme P., Allen K.A., Auniņš A., Bradshaw R.H.W., Brūmelis G., Čada V., Clear J.L., Eriksson A.-M., Hannon G., Hyvärinen E., Ikauniece S., Iršėnaitė R., Jonsson B.G., Junninen K., Kareksela S., Komonen A., Kotiaho J.S., Kouki J., Kuuluvainen T., Mazziotta A., Mönkkönen M., Nyholm K., Oldén A., Shorohova E., Strange N., Toivanen T., Vanha-Majamaa I., Wallenius T., Ylisirniö A.-L., Zin E. (2013). Challenges of ecological restoration: lessons from forests in northern Europe. Biological Conservation 167: 248-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.08.029

Hansen M.C., Potapov P.V., Moore R., Hancher M., Turubanova S.A., Tyukavina A., Thau D., Stehman S.V., Goetz S.J., Loveland T.R., Kommareddy A., Egorov A., Chini L., Justice C.O., Townshend J.R.G. (2013). High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. Science 342(6160): 850-853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1244693</u>

Henriksen S., Hilmo O. (2015). Norsk rødliste for arter 2015. Artsdatabanken, Trondheim, Norway. 193 p.

Heikkala O., Martikainen P., Kouki J. (2017). Prescribed burning is an effective and quick method to conserve rare pyrophilous forest-dwelling flat bugs. Insect Conservation and Diversity 10(1): 32-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12195</u>

Henttonen H.M., Nöjd P., Suvanto S., Heikkinen J., Mäkinen H. (2019). Large trees have increased greatly in Finland during 1921–2013, but recent observations on old trees tell a different story. Ecological Indicators 99: 118-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.12.015

Hill R.A., Wilson A.K., George M., Hinsley S.A. (2010). Mapping tree species in temperate deciduous woodland using time-series multi-spectral data. Applied Vegetation Science 13(1): 86-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-109X.2009.01053.x</u>

Horn H.S. (1974). The ecology of secondary succession. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 5(1): 25-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.05.110174.000325</u>

Hyvärinen E., Juslén A., Kemppainen E., Uddström A., Liukko U.-M. (2019). The 2019 Red List of Finnish species. Ympäristöministeriö & Suomen ympäristökeskus, Helsinki, Finland. 704 p.

Hämäläinen A., Hujo M., Heikkala O., Junninen K., Kouki J. (2016). Retention tree characteristics have major influence on the post-harvest tree mortality and availability of coarse woody debris in clear-cut areas. Forest Ecology and Management 369: 66-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.03.037

Hämäläinen K., Junninen K., Halme P., Kouki J. (2020). Managing conservation values of protected sites: how to maintain deciduous trees in white-backed woodpecker territories. Forest Ecology and Management 461: 117946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.117946</u>

Härkönen S., Eerikäinen K., Lähteenmäki R., Heikkilä R. (2008). Does moose browsing threaten European aspen regeneration in Koli National Park, Finland? Alces 44: 31-40.

IPBES (2019). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Díaz S., Settele J., Brondízio E.S., Ngo H.T., Guèze M., Agard J., Arneth A., Balvanera P., Brauman K.A., Butchart S.H.M., Chan K.M.A., Garibaldi L.A., Ichii K., Liu J., Subramanian S.M., Midgley G.F., Miloslavich P., Molnár Z., Obura D., Pfaff A., Polasky S., Purvis A., Razzaque J., Reyers B., Chowdhury R.R., Shin Y.J., Visseren-Hamakers I.J., Willis K.J., Zayas C.N. (eds.). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 56 p.

Jalkanen A. (2001). The probability of moose damage at the stand level in southern Finland. Silva Fennica 35(2): 159-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.593</u>

Jones K.R., Venter O., Fuller R.A., Allan J.R., Maxwell S.L., Negret P.J., Watson J.E.M. (2018). One-third of global protected land is under intense human pressure. Science 360(6390): 788-791. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap9565</u>

Jönsson M.T., Fraver S., Jonsson B.G., Dynesius M., Rydgård M., Esseen P.-A. (2007). Eighteen years of tree mortality and structural change in an experimentally fragmented Norway spruce forest. Forest Ecology and Management 242(2): 306-313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.01.048

Kamp J., Urazaliev R., Balmford A., Donald P.F., Green R.E., Lamb A.J., Phalan B. (2015). Agricultural development and the conservation of avian biodiversity on the Eurasian steppes: a comparison of land-sparing and land-sharing approaches. Journal of Applied Ecology 52(6): 1578-1587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12527</u>

Kareiva P., Watts S., McDonald R., Boucher T. (2007). Domesticated nature: shaping landscapes and ecosystems for human welfare. Science 316(5833): 1866-1869. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1140170

Kennedy C.M., Grant E.H.C., Neel M.C., Fagan W.F., Marra P.P. (2011). Landscape matrix mediates occupancy dynamics of Neotropical avian insectivores. Ecological Applications 21(5): 1837-1850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/10-1044.1</u>

Kerr J.T., Ostrovsky M. (2003). From space to species: ecological applications for remote sensing. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18(6): 299-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00071-5</u>

Kivinen S., Koivisto E., Keski-Saari S., Poikolainen L., Tanhuanpää T., Kuzmin A., Viinikka A., Heikkinen R.K., Pykälä J., Virkkala R., Vihervaara P., Kumpula T. (2020). A keystone species, European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.), in boreal forests: ecological role, knowledge needs and mapping using remote sensing. Forest Ecology and Management 462: 118008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118008

Korhonen K., Ihalainen A., Kuusela S., Punttila P., Salminen O., Syrjänen K. (2020). Metsien monimuotoisuudelle merkittävien rakennepiirteiden muutokset Suomessa vuosina 1980–2015. Metsätieteen Aikakauskirja 2020: 10198. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/ma.10198</u>

Kouki J., Arnold K., Martikainen P. (2004). Long-term persistence of aspen – a key host for many threatened species – is endangered in old-growth conservation areas in Finland. Journal for Nature Conservation 12(1): 41-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnc.2003.08.002</u>

Kouki J., Hyvärinen E., Lappalainen H., Martikainen P., Similä M. (2012). Landscape context affects the success of habitat restoration: large-scale colonization patterns of

saproxylic and fire-associated species in boreal forests. Diversity and Distributions 18(4): 348-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2011.00839.x</u>

Kouki J., Lofman S., Martikainen P., Rouvinen S., Uotila A. (2001). Forest fragmentation in Fennoscandia: linking habitat requirements of wood-associated threatened species to landscape and habitat changes. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16: 27-37. https://doi.org/10.1080/028275801300090564

Kouki J., Salo K. (2020). Forest disturbances affect functional groups of macrofungi in young successional forests – harvests and fire lead to different fungal assemblages. Forest Ecology and Management 463: 118039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118039</u>

Kremen C., Merenlender A.M. (2018). Landscapes that work for biodiversity and people. Science 362(6412): eaau6020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau6020</u>

Kurkela T. (1973). Epiphytology of *Melampsora* rusts of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and aspen (*Populus tremula* L.). Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen Tiedonantoja 79: 1-68.

Kuuluvainen T. (2002). Natural variability of forests as a reference for restoring and managing biological diversity in boreal Fennoscandia. Silva Fennica 36(1): 552. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.552

Kuuluvainen T. (2009). Forest management and biodiversity conservation based on natural ecosystem dynamics in northern Europe: the complexity challenge. Ambio 38(6): 309-315. https://doi.org/10.1579/08-A-490.1

Kuuluvainen T., Tahvonen O., Aakala T. (2012). Even-aged and uneven-aged forest management in boreal Fennoscandia: a review. Ambio 41(7): 720-737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-012-0289-y

Kõrkjas M., Remm L., Lõhmus A. (2020). Development rates and persistence of the microhabitats initiated by disease and injuries of live trees: a review. Forest Ecology and Management, in revision.

Lambin E.F., Meyfroidt P. (2011). Global land use change, economic globalization, and the looming land scarcity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108(9): 3465-3472. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1100480108

Landhäusser S.M., Pinno B.D., Mock K.E. (2019). Tamm review: seedling-based ecology, management, and restoration in aspen (*Populus tremuloides*). Forest Ecology and Management 432: 231-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.09.024</u>

Lankia H., Wallenius T., Várkonyi G., Kouki J., Snäll T. (2012). Forest fire history, aspen and goat willow in a Fennoscandian old-growth landscape: are current population structures a legacy of historical fires? Journal of Vegetation Science 23(6): 1159-1169. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012.01426.x Larrieu L., Paillet Y., Winter S., Bütler R., Kraus D., Krumm F., Lachat T., Michel A.K., Regnery B., Vandekerkhove K. (2018). Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: a hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. Ecological Indicators 84: 194-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.08.051</u>

Latva-Karjanmaa T., Penttilä R., Siitonen J. (2007). The demographic structure of European aspen (*Populus tremula*) populations in managed and old-growth boreal forests in eastern Finland. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 37(6): 1070-1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x06-289</u>

Lilja S., Wallenius T., Kuuluvainen T. (2006). Structure and development of old *Picea abies* forests in northern boreal Fennoscandia. Ecoscience 13(2): 181-192. https://doi.org/10.2980/i1195-6860-13-2-181.1

Lindenmayer D.B., Franklin J.F. (2002). Conserving forest biodiversity: a comprehensive multiscaled approach. Island Press, Washington DC, US. 352 p.

Lindenmayer D.B., Franklin J.F., Fischer J. (2006). General management principles and a checklist of strategies to guide forest biodiversity conservation. Biological Conservation 131(3): 433-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2006.02.019</u>

Linder P., Elfving B., Zackrisson O. (1997). Stand structure and successional trends in virgin boreal forest reserves in Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 98(1): 17-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(97)00076-5

Martikainen P. (2001). Conservation of threatened saproxylic beetles: significance of retained aspen *Populus tremula* on clearcut areas. Ecological Bulletins 49: 205-218.

Mascia M.B., Pailler S. (2011). Protected area downgrading, downsizing, and degazettement (PADDD) and its conservation implications. Conservation Letters 4(1): 9-20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2010.00147.x

Mattila U. (2005). Probability models for pine twisting rust (*Melampsora pinitorqua*) damage in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) stands in Finland. Forest Pathology 35(1): 9-21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0329.2004.00382.x

McLaughlin A., Mineau P. (1995). The impact of agricultural practices on biodiversity. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 55(3): 201-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8809(95)00609-V</u>

Mendenhall C.D., Karp D.S., Meyer C.F.J., Hadly E.A., Daily G.C. (2014). Predicting biodiversity change and averting collapse in agricultural landscapes. Nature 509: 213-217. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13139

Mendenhall C.D., Shields-Estrada A., Krishnaswami A.J., Daily G.C. (2016). Quantifying and sustaining biodiversity in tropical agricultural landscapes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113(51): 14544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1604981113</u>

Michel A.K., Winter S. (2009). Tree microhabitat structures as indicators of biodiversity in Douglas-fir forests of different stand ages and management histories in the Pacific Northwest, U.S.A. Forest Ecology and Management 257(6): 1453-1464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.11.027

Morales-Hidalgo D., Oswalt S.N., Somanathan E. (2015). Status and trends in global primary forest, protected areas, and areas designated for conservation of biodiversity from the Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015. Forest Ecology and Management 352: 68-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.06.011

Myking T., Bøhler F., Austrheim G., Solberg E.J. (2011). Life history strategies of aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) and browsing effects: a literature review. Forestry 84(1): 61-71. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpq044

Mönkkönen M., Welsh D.A. (1994). A biogeographical hypothesis on the effects of human caused landscape changes on the forest bird communities of Europe and North America. Annales Zoologici Fennici 31(1): 61-70.

Månsson J., Kalén C., Kjellander P., Andrén H., Smith H. (2007). Quantitative estimates of tree species selectivity by moose (*Alces alces*) in a forest landscape. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 22(5): 407-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580701515023</u>

Nagendra H., Lucas R., Honrado J.P., Jongman R.H.G., Tarantino C., Adamo M., Mairota P. (2013). Remote sensing for conservation monitoring: assessing protected areas, habitat extent, habitat condition, species diversity, and threats. Ecological Indicators 33: 45-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.09.014

Nevalainen S., Matala J., Korhonen K., Ihalainen A. (2016). Moose damage in National Forest Inventories (1986–2008) in Finland. Silva Fennica 50(2): 1410. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1410

Newbold T., Hudson L.N., Hill S.L.L., Contu S., Lysenko I., Senior R.A., Börger L., Bennett D.J., Choimes A., Collen B., Day J., De Palma A., Díaz S., Echeverria-Londoño S., Edgar M.J., Feldman A., Garon M., Harrison M.L.K., Alhusseini T., Ingram D.J., Itescu Y., Kattge J., Kemp V., Kirkpatrick L., Kleyer M., Correia D.L.P., Martin C.D., Meiri S., Novosolov M., Pan Y., Phillips H.R.P., Purves D.W., Robinson A., Simpson J., Tuck S.L., Weiher E., White H.J., Ewers R.M., Mace G.M., Scharlemann J.P.W., Purvis A. (2015). Global effects land terrestrial biodiversity. Nature 520: 45-50. of use on local https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324

Nilsson M.-C., Wardle D.A. (2005). Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3(8): 421-428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0421:uvaafe]2.0.co;2</u>

Norden N., Angarita H.A., Bongers F., Martínez-Ramos M., Granzow-de la Cerda I., van Breugel M., Lebrija-Trejos E., Meave J.A., Vandermeer J., Williamson G.B., Finegan B., Mesquita R., Chazdon R.L. (2015). Successional dynamics in Neotropical forests are as

uncertain as they are predictable. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112(26): 8013-8018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1500403112</u>

Oldén A., Ovaskainen O., Kotiaho J.S., Laaka-Lindberg S., Halme P. (2014). Bryophyte species richness on retention aspens recovers in time but community structure does not. PLoS One 9(4): e93786. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093786</u>

Oliver C.D. (1980). Forest development in North America following major disturbances. Forest Ecology and Management 3: 153-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1127(80)90013-4</u>

Paillet Y., Archaux F., Puy S., Bouget C., Boulanger V., Debaive N., Gilg O., Gosselin F., Guilbert E. (2018). The indicator side of tree microhabitats: a multi-taxon approach based on bats, birds and saproxylic beetles. Journal of Applied Ecology 55(5): 2147-2159. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13181

Pakkala T., Tiainen J., Piha M., Kouki J. (2018). How important are nest cavities made by the Three-toed Woodpecker *Picoides tridactylus* for cavity-nesting forest bird species? Acta Ornithologica 53(1): 69–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.3161/00016454AO2018.53.1.007</u>

Pasanen H. (2017). Ecological effects of disturbance-based restoration in boreal forests. Dissertationes Forestales 244. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/df.244</u>

Pasanen H., Juutilainen K., Siitonen J. (2019). Responses of polypore fungi following disturbance-emulating harvesting treatments and deadwood creation in boreal Norway spruce dominated forests. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 34(7): 557-568. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2019.1663915

Peltola H.M. (2006). Mechanical stability of trees under static loads. American Journal of Botany 93(10): 1501-1511. <u>https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.93.10.1501</u>

Peltola H.M., Kellomäki S., Hassinen A., Granander M. (2000). Mechanical stability of Scots pine, Norway spruce and birch: an analysis of tree-pulling experiments in Finland. Forest Ecology and Management 135(1): 143-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00306-6</u>

Perera A.H., Buse L.J., Weber M.G. (2004). Emulating natural forest landscape disturbances: concepts and applications. Columbia University Press, New York, US. 352 p.

Persson I.-L., Danell K., Bergström R. (2005). Different moose densities and accompanied changes in tree morphology and browse production. Ecological Applications 15(4): 1296-1305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0499</u>

Persson M., Lindberg E., Reese H. (2018). Tree species classification with multi-temporal Sentinel-2 data. Remote Sensing 10(11): 1794. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10111794</u>

Peura M., Burgas D., Eyvindson K., Repo A., Mönkkönen M. (2018). Continuous cover forestry is a cost-efficient tool to increase multifunctionality of boreal production forests in

Fennoscandia.BiologicalConservation217:104-112.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.10.018

Phalan B., Onial M., Balmford A., Green R.E. (2011). Reconciling food production and biodiversity conservation: land sharing and land sparing compared. Science 333(6047): 1289. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1208742

Pimm S.L., Raven P. (2000). Extinction by numbers. Nature 403: 843. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002708

Pimm S.L., Russell G.J., Gittleman J.L., Brooks T.M. (1995). The future of biodiversity. Science 269(5222): 347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.269.5222.347</u>

Puettmann K.J., Wilson S.M., Baker S.C., Donoso P.J., Drössler L., Amente G., Harvey B.D., Knoke T., Lu Y., Nocentini S., Putz F.E., Yoshida T., Bauhus J. (2015). Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest management - what limits global adoption? Forest Ecosystems 2(1): 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-015-0031-x</u>

R Core Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. https://www.R-project.org/

Regnery B., Couvet D., Kubarek L., Julien J.-F., Kerbiriou C. (2013). Tree microhabitats as indicators of bird and bat communities in Mediterranean forests. Ecological Indicators 34: 221-230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.05.003</u>

Remm J., Lõhmus A. (2011). Tree cavities in forests – the broad distribution pattern of a keystone structure for biodiversity. Forest Ecology and Management 262(4): 579-585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.04.028

Rockström J., Steffen W., Noone K., Persson Å., Chapin F.S., Lambin E., Lenton T.M., Scheffer M., Folke C., Schellnhuber H.J., Nykvist B., de Wit C.A., Hughes T., van der Leeuw S., Rodhe H., Sörlin S., Snyder P.K., Costanza R., Svedin U., Falkenmark M., Karlberg L., Corell R.W., Fabry V.J., Hansen J., Walker B., Liverman D., Richardson K., Crutzen P., Foley J. (2009). Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. Ecology and Society 14(2): 32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03180-140232</u>

Rohner B., Bigler C., Wunder J., Brang P., Bugmann H. (2012). Fifty years of natural succession in Swiss forest reserves: changes in stand structure and mortality rates of oak and beech. Journal of Vegetation Science 23(5): 892-905. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012.01408.x</u>

Sabatini F.M., Burrascano S., Keeton W.S., Levers C., Lindner M., Pötzschner F., Verkerk P.J., Bauhus J., Buchwald E., Chaskovsky O., Debaive N., Horváth F., Garbarino M., Grigoriadis N., Lombardi F., Marques D.I., Meyer P., Midteng R., Mikac S., Mikoláš M., Motta R., Mozgeris G., Nunes L., Panayotov M., Ódor P., Ruete A., Simovski B., Stillhard J., Svoboda M., Szwagrzyk J., Tikkanen O.-P., Volosyanchuk R., Vrska T., Zlatanov T., Kuemmerle T. (2018). Where are Europe's last primary forests? Diversity and Distributions 24(12): 1890-1892. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12778

Seibold S., Gossner M.M., Simons N.K., Blüthgen N., Müller J., Ambarlı D., Ammer C., Bauhus J., Fischer M., Habel J.C., Linsenmair K.E., Nauss T., Penone C., Prati D., Schall P., Schulze E.-D., Vogt J., Wöllauer S., Weisser W.W. (2019). Arthropod decline in grasslands and forests is associated with landscape-level drivers. Nature 574: 671-674. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1684-3

Seidl R., Thom D., Kautz M., Martin-Benito D., Peltoniemi M., Vacchiano G., Wild J., Ascoli D., Petr M., Honkaniemi J., Lexer M.J., Trotsiuk V., Mairota P., Svoboda M., Fabrika M., Nagel T.A., Reyer C.P.O. (2017). Forest disturbances under climate change. Nature Climate Change 7(6): 395-402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3303</u>

Shorohova E., Kneeshaw D., Kuuluvainen T., Gauthier S. (2011). Variability and dynamics of old-growth forests in the circumboreal zone: implications for conservation, restoration and management. Silva Fennica 45(5): 72. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.72</u>

Siitonen J. (2001). Forest management, coarse woody debris and saproxylic organisms: Fennoscandian boreal forests as an example. Ecological Bulletins 49: 11-41.

Similä M., Junninen K., Hyvärinen E., Kouki J. (2012). Restoring heathland forest habitats. In: Similä M., Junninen K. (eds.) Ecological restoration and management in boreal forests best practices from Finland. Metsähallitus - Natural Heritage Services, Vantaa, Finland. p. 6-20.

Suominen M., Junninen K., Heikkala O., Kouki J. (2018). Burning harvested sites enhances polypore diversity on stumps and slash. Forest Ecology and Management 414: 47-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.02.007

Swanson M.E., Franklin J.F., Beschta R.L., Crisafulli C.M., DellaSala D.A., Hutto R.L., Lindenmayer D.B., Swanson F.J. (2011). The forgotten stage of forest succession: early-successional ecosystems on forest sites. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9(2): 117-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/090157</u>

Swedish Forest Agency (2014). Swedish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry. Swedish Forest Agency, Jönköping, Sweden. 370 p.

Tikkanen O.-P., Martikainen P., Hyvärinen E., Junninen K., Kouki J. (2006). Red-listed boreal forest species of Finland: associations with forest structure, tree species, and decaying wood. Annales Zoologici Fennici 43: 373-383.

Vaahtera E., Aarne M., Ihalainen A., Mäki-Simola E., Peltola A., Torvelainen J., Uotila E., Ylitalo E. (2018). Finnish forest statistics. Luonnonvarakeskus (LUKE), Helsinki, Finland. 189 p.

Vehmas M., Kouki J., Eerikäinen K. (2009). Long-term spatio-temporal dynamics and historical continuity of European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) stands in the Koli National Park, eastern Finland. Forestry 82(2): 135-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpn044</u>

Viinikka A., Hurskainen P., Keski-Saari S., Kivinen S., Tanhuanpää T., Mäyrä J., Poikolainen L., Vihervaara P., Kumpula T. (2020). Detecting European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) in boreal forests using airborne hyperspectral and airborne laser scanning data. Remote Sensing 12(16): 2610. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12162610</u>

Vitousek P.M., Mooney H.A., Lubchenco J., Melillo J.M. (1997). Human domination of Earth's ecosystems. Science 277(5325): 494-499. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5325.494

von Wehrden H., Abson D.J., Beckmann M., Cord A.F., Klotz S., Seppelt R. (2014). Realigning the land-sharing/land-sparing debate to match conservation needs: considering diversity scales and land-use history. Landscape Ecology 29(6): 941-948. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-014-0038-7

Vuidot A., Paillet Y., Archaux F., Gosselin F. (2011). Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree microhabitats. Biological Conservation 144(1): 441-450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.09.030

Wallenius T. (2011). Major decline in fires in coniferous forests – reconstructing the phenomenon and seeking for the cause. Silva Fennica 45(1): 36. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.36

Wan H.Y., Rhodes A.C., St. Clair S.B. (2014). Fire severity alters plant regeneration patterns and defense against herbivores in mixed aspen forests. Oikos 123(12): 1479-1488. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01521

Watson J.E.M., Dudley N., Segan D.B., Hockings M. (2014). The performance and potential of protected areas. Nature 515: 67-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13947</u>

Watson J.E.M., Evans T., Venter O., Williams B., Tulloch A., Stewart C., Thompson I., Ray J.C., Murray K., Salazar A., McAlpine C., Potapov P., Walston J., Robinson J.G., Painter M., Wilkie D., Filardi C., Laurance W.F., Houghton R.A., Maxwell S., Grantham H., Samper C., Wang S., Laestadius L., Runting R.K., Silva-Chávez G.A., Ervin J., Lindenmayer D. (2018). The exceptional value of intact forest ecosystems. Nature Ecology & Evolution 2(4): 599-610. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-018-0490-x

Wesołowski T., Martin K. (2018). Tree holes and hole-nesting birds in European and North American forests. In: Mikusiński G., Roberge J.-M., Fuller R.J. (eds.) Ecology and conservation of forest birds. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. p. 79-134. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781139680363.006

Westling A. (2015). Rödlistade arter i Sverige 2015. ArtDatabanken SLU, Uppsala, Sweden. 109 p.

White P.S., Jentsch A. (2001). The search for generality in studies of disturbance and ecosystem dynamics. In: Esser K., Lüttge U., Kadereit J.W., Beyschlag W. (eds.) Progress in botany, vol 62. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Germany. p. 399-450. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-56849-7_17 White P.S., Pickett S.T.A. (1985). Chapter 1 - Natural disturbance and patch dynamics: An introduction. In: Pickett S.T.A., White P.S. (eds.) The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic Press, San Diego, US. p. 3-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-554520-4.50006-X</u>

White P.S., Walker J.L. (1997). Approximating nature's variation: selecting and using reference information in restoration ecology. Restoration Ecology 5(4): 338-349. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-100X.1997.00547.x

Winter S., Möller G.C. (2008). Microhabitats in lowland beech forests as monitoring tool for nature conservation. Forest Ecology and Management 255(3): 1251-1261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.10.029

Zackrisson O. (1977). Influence of forest fires on the North Swedish boreal forest. Oikos 29: 22-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3543289</u>